ALASKA STATE LEGQ SLATURE
HOUSE STATE AFFAI RS STANDI NG COVM TTEE
March 31, 2015
8:06 a. m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Bob Lynn, Chair
Representative Wes Keller, Vice Chair
Representative David Tal erico
Representative Louise Stutes
Representati ve Max G uenberg

Represent ati ve Jonat han Krei ss- Tonki ns
Representative Liz Vazquez

VEMBERS ABSENT
COWM TTEE CALENDAR

SENATE CONCURRENT RESOLUTI ON NO. 6
Proclaimng April 2015 as Sexual Assault Awareness Mbonth.

- MOVED SCR 6 QUT OF COW TTEE

HOUSE BI LL NO. 160
“"An Act relating to the art requirements for certain public
buil dings and facilities and to the funding of works of art.”

- HEARD & HELD
HOUSE BI LL NO. 117
"An Act requiring a report on untested sexual assaul t
exam nation kits; and providing for an effective date."
- MOVED CSHB 117(STA) OQUT OF COW TTEE
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON

BILL: SCR 6
SHORT TI TLE: SEXUAL ASSAULT AWARENESS MONTH: APRI L 2015
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) MEYER

03/ 02/ 15 (S) READ THE FI RST TI ME - REFERRALS
03/ 02/ 15 (S) STA

03/ 10/ 15 (S) STA AT 8:30 AM BUTROVI CH 205
03/ 10/ 15 (S) Moved SCR 6 Qut of Committee
03/ 10/ 15 (S) M NUTE( STA)

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -1- March 31, 2015



03/ 11/ 15 (S) STA RPT 5DP

03/ 11/ 15 (S) DP; STOLTZE, COGHI LL, MCGUI RE,
W ELECHOWSKI , HUGG NS

03/ 16/ 15 (S) TRANSM TTED TO (H)

03/ 16/ 15 (S) VERSI ON:  SCR 6

03/ 18/ 15 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS

03/ 18/ 15 (H) STA

03/ 31/ 15 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

BILL: HB 160

SHORT TI TLE: REPEAL ART | N PUBLI C PLACES REQUI RENVENT
SPONSOR(s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) GATTI S

03/ 23/ 15 (H READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
03/ 23/ 15 (H) STA, FIN

03/ 31/ 15 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106
BILL: HB 117

SHORT TITLE: SEXUAL ASSAULT EXAM NATI ON KI TS
SPONSOR(s) : REPRESENTATI VE(s) TARR

02/ 18/ 15 (H) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
02/ 18/ 15 (H) STA, JUD, FIN

03/ 26/ 15 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

03/ 26/ 15 (H) Heard & Hel d

03/ 26/ 15 (H) M NUTE( STA)

03/ 31/ 15 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

W TNESS REG STER

EDNA MORELAND, St af f

Senat or Kevi n Meyer

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented SCR 6 on behalf of Senator Meyer,
prime sponsor.

PEGGY BROWN, Executive Director

Al aska Network on Donestic Violence and Sexual Assault

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified and answered questions during the
heari ng on SCR 6.

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN GATTI S

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented CSHB 160 as prine sponsor.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 2- March 31, 2015



ENZI NA MARRARI, Cur at or

Public Arts Program

Muni ci pality of Anchorage

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in oppositi
on CSHB 160.

SHANNON DAUT, Executive Director

Al aska State Council on the Arts

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in oppositi
on CSHB 160.

ANNE COATES McGRATH

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in oppositi
on HB 160.

KESLER WOODWARD

Vice Chair

Al aska State Council on the Arts

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in oppositi
on CSHB 160.

JUNE ROGERS, Executive D rector

Fai rbanks Arts Associ ation

Fai r banks, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in oppositi
on CSHB 160.

NANCY DeCHERNEY, Executive Director

Juneau Arts & Humanities Council

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in oppositi
on CSHB 160.

REPRESENTATI VE GARRAN TARR
Al aska State Legislature
Juneau, Al aska

on

on

on

on

on

on

duri

duri

duri

duri

duri

duri

ng

ng

ng

ng

ng

ng

t he

t he

t he

t he

t he

t he

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented CSHB 117 as prine sponsor.

RAY FRI EDLANDER, St aff
Representative Gerran Tarr
Al aska State Legislature
Juneau, Al aska

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 3-

March 31,

heari

heari

heari

heari

hear i

hear i

ng

ng

ng

ng

ng

ng

2015



PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: D scussed changes in HB 117, Version E, on
behal f of Representative Tarr, prinme sponsor.

ORI N DYM Forensi c Laboratory Manager

Al aska Scientific Crine Detection Laboratory

Departnent of Public Safety

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answered questions during the hearing on
CSHB 117.

DEAN W LLI AMS, Speci al Assi stant

O fice of the Conm ssioner

Department of Public Safety

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions during the hearing on HB
117.

JESSI CA CLER, WManager

Al aska Public Affairs

Pl anned Par ent hood Vot es Nort hwest

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: During the hearing on CSHB 117, testified
i n support.

NANCY PORTO

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: During the hearing on CSHB 117, testified
i n support.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
8:06: 33 AM

CHAIR BOB LYNN called the House State Affairs Standing Conmmittee
nmeeting to order at 8:06 a.m Representatives Keller, Kreiss-
Tonkins, Stutes, Talerico, and Lynn were present at the call to
order. Representatives Guenberg and Vazquez arrived as the
nmeeti ng was in progress.

SCR 6- SEXUAL ASSAULT AWARENESS MONTH: APRI L 2015

8:07:13 AM
CHAI R LYNN announced that the first order of business would be

SENATE CONCURRENT RESOLUTION NO. 6, Proclaimng April 2015 as
Sexual Assault Awareness Month.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -4- March 31, 2015



8:07:33 AM

EDNA  MORELAND, Staff, Senator Kevin Myer, Al aska State
Legislature, explained that SCR 6 proclains April, 2015 as
sexual assault awareness nonth which is an annual canpaign to
raise public awareness and educate comunities and individuals
on how to prevent sexual assault violence across the nation.
She described sexual assault violence as a serious public health
probl em affecting one in five wonen, and one in seventy-one nen
in their [lifetine. However, in Alaska, the rates are
approximately two and one-half tinmes the national average and

she noted, statistics do not [accurately] represent the problens
as often victinmse do not report the violence to the police.
Sexual assault violence can lead to long term physical and
nmental health problens, therefore, she pointed out, bringing
awareness to the crinme of sexual assault and recognizing the
enormty of the problem can be properly addressed and prevented
by lifting the veil of secrecy hiding these horrific crines.

8:09: 51 AM

PEGGY BROW\, Executive Director, Al aska Network on Domestic
Vi ol ence and Sexual Assault, advised that the Al aska Network on
Donestic Violence and  Sexual Assaul t is conprised of
approximately 20 victim service agencies throughout the state.
Sexual assault and sexual abuse of mnors is a problemin Al aska
and, she acknow edged there are many people perform ng good work
in assisting victins and survivors.

CHAIR LYNN asked Ms. Brown to describe two to three hurdles in
reduci ng sexual violence, and where to start in that people my
be reluctant to report the viol ence.

M5. BROWN enphasized "prevention, prevention, prevention," in
that sexual assault violence prevention education nust be
present everyplace male and female children and/or young adults
reside, and [the legislature] should review the crimnal arena
for inprovenent. She pointed out that in 2012 there were 804
reported cases of sexual assault and of those 804, 8 percent
resulted in sone type of correction, which sends the nessage
"why should | report.”™ She said she has asked attorneys in the
|l egal system Departnment of |law attorneys, and paralegals,
should they be sexually assaulted would they report, and eight
out of ten said "No, because they just don't want to have to go
t hrough the | ong process.™

8:12: 37 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 5- March 31, 2015



CHAIR LYNN i nterjected "where the victimgets victim zed tw ce."

M5. BROM agreed, and related that people want to nove on even
t hough they want the "bad guy" caught. She suggested shortening
the time a crimnal case is addressed, and truly investing in
prevention work for sexual violence. She stated there has been
a slow reduction in teen sexual violence within the past five
years.

CHAIR LYNN closed public testinony after ascertaining no one
further wished to testify.

8:14: 00 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER noved to report SCR 6 out of comittee
with individual recomrendations and the acconpanying fiscal
not es. There being no objection, SCR 6 was reported from the
House State Affairs Standing Conmttee.

HB 160- REPEAL ART | N PUBLI C PLACES REQUI REMENT

8:14:26 AM

CHAIR LYNN announced that the next of business would be HOUSE
BILL NO 160, "An Act relating to the art requirenents for
certain public buildings and facilities and to the funding of
wor ks of art."

8:14:45 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER noved to adopt proposed conmttee
substitute for HB 160, |abeled 29-LS0696\H as the working
docunent . There being no objection, Version H was before the
comittee.

8:15:15 AM

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN GATTIS, Al aska State Legislature, said that
bet ween 2004-2013, the Department of Transportation and Public
Facilities, the Departnment of Education and Early Devel oprent,
and the Alaska Court System spent a conbined total of $9, 129,581
on art program expenditures. She explained there are two parts
to Version H enacting a five-year noratorium on one percent
funding for art in public places, July 1, 2015 - July 1, 2020;
enacting a sunset date on the art works in public buildings and
facilities' statute, as well as the art in public place fund.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 6- March 31, 2015



She pointed out that the original bill did not discuss the

noratorium but the Arts Council requested tinme in which to
beconme self-sufficient recognizing that the goal of the bill is
to no longer fund one percent for arts. She advised that the

conpromse of the five-year noratorium is not funding but
allowng the Art Council to sell art work and lend art work to
beconme self-sufficient. She acknowl edged that she "read it
backwards,” and said Version A repealed all statutes requiring
one percent funding for art in public buildings and facilities
as well as anmending other statutes referencing the one percent
for arts. Version H she pointed out, changes that requirenent

for one percent funding for art in public buildings and
facilities with a five-year noratorium July 1, 2015 - July 1,
2020, it also includes a sunset date on AS 35.27, the art in
public places fund. She advised that the legislature can no
| onger afford to offer these nice things, that the legislature
values art and artists, but the state will no |onger sponsor
them She offered hope that the Arts Council w Il beconme self-
sufficient.

8:18: 50 AM

CHAIR LYNN noted that currently the arts receives one percent
and asked how nuch noney would this put back into the main
stream to be wused for other purposes in a tinme of fiscal
short ages.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTI S responded it would put one percent of the
pr oj ect

CHAIR LYNN restated, in approximate dollars, how nuch nore noney
woul d the state have to spend for other things.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTI S answered, "I guess ... if you don't have a
project then you don't have any noney for that one percent of
that project.” She noted that the legislature is considering

not funding capital projects, specifically schools, at this tinme
and remarked fromthe schools' standpoint

CHAIR LYNN interjected that noney not spent on anything will go
back into the general fund to be spent on other necessary itens.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTIS replied that whatever one percent of the
project is, that is how much will be saved.

CHAIR LYNN asked how one qualifies to have a piece of art
di spl ayed.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -7- March 31, 2015



REPRESENTATI VE GATTIS responded that it is different in
different places, although, at one tinme wthin the Matanuska-
Susitna School District there was art for Wsilla Hi gh School
and the Wasilla Art Goup and the Wasilla H gh School Principa
chose the art.

CHAIR LYNN surm sed that artists submt the art or a description
of the art and soneone deci des.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTI S answered that through that particular art
program at Wasilla H gh School is how it was decided and other
art was chosen by the school board, as it can be decided in a
di fferent manner within the sane comunity.

8:21:50 AM
REPRESENTATI VE TALERI CO advised he is torn by the fact that the

art, within his involvenent with the municipal governnment, was
created by local artists and Al aska residents, and although

there will be a savings there is also the benefit of allow ng
Al askan artists a market. He said he is struggling with this
bill.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTIS referred to his comments and stated that
is the reason she conmpromised with the Arts Council to assist
them in becomng self-sufficient within the next five years.
She put forth that it is not her desire to take away from | oca
Al askan artists, but rather to recognize that wthin these
budgetary tinmes the Arts Council believes it can develop
creative ideas to becone self-sufficient.

8:23: 55 AM

ENZI NA MARRARI, Curator, Public Arts Program Minicipality of
Anchorage, said in the 15 years she has lived in Al aska has
known several individuals who have benefited fromthe public art
pr ogr am as they have been awarded opportunities for
prof essi onal growh, developnent, financial sustainability, and

exposure both locally and nationally. Additionally, she said
she has seen Anchorage and the state benefit from this program
by gaining cultural, social, and econom c val ue. She pointed

out that Alaska was a pioneer in the national novenent, 8th
grade art work in public buildings, having adopted the public
arts statute in 1975, and noted that losing this |egacy woul d be
a tremendous |oss for Alaska yet would have virtually no inpact
on the state's operating or capital budgets, she said.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 8- March 31, 2015



She pointed out that the City of Anchorage and State of Al aska
aspire to be areas people want to live and visit, and a strong
public art expression offers comunities a stronger sense of
pl ace and identity, thereby, public art reflects conmmunity and
cultural identities and creates public investnment and pride in
the city and state. She pointed out that funds from percent for
art comm ssions also support fabricators, electricians, welders,
engi neers, and other skilled workers. According to Anericans
for the Arts, cities with an active and dynam c cultural scene
are nore attractive to individuals and businesses. She said
that public art stinulates |earning about art, environnents,
inter-connected Ilives, and the social sphere as a whole.
I nvesting helps to diversify the state's art econony through
recognition of the roles artists play as small business owners.
Lastly, she advised, HB 160 will not inpact the state's overal
operating or capital budgets, as percent for art funds are
specifically allocated to construction budgets and would likely
be reallocated to other construction expenses wthin each
i ndi vi dual project.

CHAI R LYNN advised that the bill is not for or against art, but
is a noratoriumon one percent for art.

8:30: 50 AM

SHANNON DAUT, Executive Director, Alaska State Council on the
Arts, advised that at the tine one percent for art was passed
Alaska as a state was 16 years old, and a pioneer in the
nmovenment of integrating public art into public buildings.
Ther eby, she said, creating a nore open and assessable
environment for interaction within public spaces. Through the
years an incredible collection of assets has been devel oped
reflecting the state's cultural history and, she pointed out,
these assets are the sole part of construction budgets that
appreci ates over tine. She then discussed the role the program
plays for artists in naking a living, inproving Al aska's
financial picture, quality of |ife, and outlined the national
standards the Alaska State Council on the Arts adheres to when
presenting a conm ssion. She expressed that the counci
understands the budget situation and everyone feels like "they
are in this t oget her, " but this nmoratorium  would
di sproportionally cut the arts and artists, and the percent for
arts program was designed to contract when the capital budget
shrinks, "it's kind of built in, in the cake."

8:35: 09 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -9- March 31, 2015



CHAI R LYNN asked for clarification as to whether M. Daut stated
"art is part of the eco-system"™

M5. DAUT responded that artists nust be smart in creating a
career for thensel ves as independent sole proprietor and within
this eco-system there are a variety of different things that
assists artists in noving forward. She related that it includes
pr of essi onal devel opnent, gallery sales, gallery representation,
working in schools with children, teaching at universities or in
schools, and that public art is a significant conponent of that.
Finances are just one piece, as wthin each of the projects
contractors, fabricators, welders, are hired, and often artists
goi ng through the process of public conm ssion are able to hone
their skills with a greater |evel of sophistication in which
t hey approach their business. Lastly, she said, the public art
commi ssion can help gain exposure for artists nationally and
internationally.

8:37:31 AM

ANNE COATES MGRATH, Anchorage, Al aska, said she grew up in
Anchorage, is a graphic designer and artist, and her nother Pam
Coates was very involved in the percent for arts program She
said the rich culture and environnment inspired her to becone an
artist, so she traveled to Los Angeles to attend an arts schoo
for design, and returned to Alaska a few years ago due to the
naturally rich beauty and culturally rich comunity. She
related that public art provides access to everyone, and can be
inspirational through its stories in a manner beyond the reach
of common | anguage. It is inportant to provide children access
to art even though their parents may not be deeply involved, as
some of the children go on to becone artists, architects, and
designers, which inpacts the world in positive ways. She
stressed that public art is essential to communities and she
woul d be disappointed to see the rich cultural elenent hanpered
in any nmanner.

8:41: 29 AM

KESLER WOODWARD, Vice Chair, Alaska State Council on the Arts,
said he is testifying on his own behalf and as the president of
the Alaska Arts and Culture Foundation, not for profit. He
fervently urged the commttee not to be lulled into believing
that the five year noratorium will have an effect other than to
kill this highly successful work program and the noratorium
will have no positive inpact on state budgets. He pointed out

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 10- March 31, 2015



that 40 years ago, when Al aska was a young and visionary state,
Al aska becane the third state in the country to adopt the
percent for art law and currently nore than half of the states

have thriving progranms of this sort. He related that he has a
sense of what Yogi Berra fanpusly called "Dé a vu all over
again," as over the decades legislation has been proposed

several tinmes to repeal this law. The issue of the cost of the
program has been raised over the decades and, he remarked, the
i ssue was successfully explained in that repeal of this |aw
woul d not save the state any noney as the statute requires that
one percent of existing state capital construction budgets be
used for art in public buildings. He pointed out that repealing
this law will not lower the cost of state buildings and wll
only inpoverish the "built" environnment. He rem nded the
cormmittee that it has received conpelling testinonies from
councils and artists on these facts, and reiterated that there
is no state funding on top of existing capital construction
budget s.

8:45: 36 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER referred M. Wodward and ot her w tnesses'
testinonies that [repeal] would have absolutely no effect on the
operating or capital budget. He stressed that while he deeply
appreciates the value of art and the enrichnment of Al askans,
there is a portion of state revenue being spent. He opined that
the blanket statement goes too far by declaring it has no
effect.

MR. WOODWARD answered that state building cost what they cost
and allocations are made within the capital construction budget,
and those figures are set. He explained that one percent is not
added on top of that capital construction budget in order to buy
art as that art conmes out of that budget the sanme as "everything

else.” It goes for the sane things the rest of the construction
budget goes for such as, design, engineering, and outfitting of
t hose buil di ngs. He said if this one percent was not spent on

art, it would be spent on such things as w ndows, flooring, and
bat hroons. He offered that a successful case has been nade over
the years that elimnating this programwon't save any noney and
that it is a false belief to think that the building will cost
one percent less, as the building will cost just the sane.

8:47: 58 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLER commented that he has a construction
background and if there is a one percent requirenent on the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -11- March 31, 2015



cost, assumng this is all operated on a bid system it does
have an inpact on the bids. He referred to M. Wodward' s
statenent that 40 other states have simlar prograns, and asked
whet her they are all state sponsored prograns.

MR, WOODWARD clarified that he said just over half of the states
in the country now have a program of this sort, and 26 states
with a percent for arts program mandates that a small percentage
of funding is included for state funded buil di ngs.

8:49: 40 AM

CHAIR LYNN passed the gavel to Vice Chair Keller as he was
presenting a bill in the Senate State Affairs Standing
Comm ttee. He advised he supports CSHB 160, and would like to
nove it out of commttee.

8:50:11 AM

JUNE ROGERS, Executive Director, Fairbanks Arts Association,
expressed concern for CSHB 160, and acknowl edged the dire
circunstances before the legislature and is grateful for their
pursuit of budget solutions. However, she said, she cannot
support the advancenent of this bill as the econom cs of budget
decisions do not hold up to scrutiny. Repealing the act would
not bring new dollars to the budget, rather it would be
reall ocated to other costs in each individual capital project

budget . She pointed out that when investing state dollars in
public art or enhancenments, it is inportant to understand the
results expected. Artists are a significant segnent of a

comunity's diversity of economcs, she described, and their
work is inportant to the advancenent of their own small business
ventures and those of their suppliers. She advised that the
appreciation of a piece of art is sonething to think about, and
guestioned which segnent of Alaska's econony is expendable.
There are areas of excess in the budgets that can and should
have been cut before being conpelled to reckon with the current
budget probl ens, she expressed.

8:53: 05 AM

NANCY DeCHERNEY, Executive Director, Juneau Arts & Humanities
Council, referred to the questions regarding whether the state
is saving noney by elimnating the percent for art, and advised
that sinply because "it is a percentage of sonmething that if
there is no ... a percent of zero is still zero." She opi ned
that she does not know whether there is an analysis of the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -12- March 31, 2015



income actually seen from having public art in Alaska's airports
and public buildings, and noted that the Juneau State Capitol
Building is a source of tourist destination having to do wth
its history and also the beautiful building with pieces of art.
The business of jobs has come forward and the anpunt of work
devel oped by local artists and, she said, they are working hard
to use the arts in a creative fashion to make Juneau a center
for Northwest Coast art. She suggested the conmittee to not
only consider the one percent savings over a period of tine, but
al so what mght be lost over a period of time by not investing
art into Alaska's public.

VICE CHAIR KELLER closed public testinony after ascertaining
that no one further wshed to testify.

8:55:51 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG i ndi cated his step-father was an arti st
and his art work appears in San Francisco, and sonmewhat in
Al aska. He said he has no financial interest in this, but has a
spiritual interest and agrees with those who have weighed in
against this bill.

8:57:10 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KREI SS- TOWKI NS of fered concerns about the bill,
and although he appreciates the intent and notivation of the
sponsor given the current climte, opined that this would be
| ooking in the wong direction. He referred to Representative
Talerico's coments in that with one percent for the art there
are very snmall comm ssions being parceled out to |ocal artists.
He said that not only does this noney stay local, it stays
"ultra-local”™ and continually recirculates creating a huge
anount of activity proportional to the relatively small anount
of noney being discussed. In review ng the econom c sense, he
described a huge return for a small investnent. He advi sed he
spoke with someone in this building regarding the University of
Al aska system who believes the University of Al aska should be
the University of Al aska. He said this person believes the
| egi slature should do everything possible to nmke sure

conpare it to the University of Kansas and you can actually tell
the difference as the University of Al aska speaks to prograns
such as, arctic engineering, GEO physics, and cold climte

housi ng research. He then referred to buildings in Al aska,
public schools, and public facilities and said it is inportant
that the places Alaskans live and work do not 1look 1like

buildings in other states. He said in growing up around Al aska,

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 13- March 31, 2015



the one percent for art effectively differentiated and gave the
students a sense of place and identity, and possibly patriotism
for Al aska.

9:00: 01 AM

VI CE CHAIR KELLER comented that sonme of the testinony makes it
appear this is a vote for or against art, which puts everyone in
a bad spot. He opined that the question is whether the state
will subsidize art, even though it has been portrayed as not a
subsidy and rather an innocent requirenent that one percent
extra be spent on public buildings. He further opined that it
transl ates out to subsidy.

VI CE CHAIR KELLER said he will set the bill aside.
9: 00: 57 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG comrented that his forner brother-in-
law is a well-known local artist, who sculpted the bear across

the street, the bears at D Pac, and will be scul pting the whal e,
and everyone in Juneau sees those scul ptures on a daily basis.
He said he will not be offering anendnents.

9:02:18 AM

VI CE CHAI R KELLER announced that HB 160 was held over.

HB 117- SEXUAL ASSAULT EXAM NATI ON KI TS

9:02: 29 AM

VICE CHAIR KELLER announced that the last order of business
would be HOUSE BILL NO 117, "An Act requiring a report on
untested sexual assault exam nation kits; and providing for an
effective date.”

9:03: 04 AM

REPRESENTATI VE STUTES noved to adopt the proposed comittee
substitute (CS) for HB 117, Version 29-LS0386\E, Martin,
3/27/15, as the working docunent. There being no objection,
Version E was before the conmittee.

9:03: 25 AM

The conmttee took an at-ease from9:03 a.m to 9:05 a. m

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -14- March 31, 2015



9:04: 54 AM

REPRESENTATI VE  GARRAN TARR, Al aska State Legislature, in
response to Representative Guenberg, advised that the previous
version was "W" and that suggestions and questions offered
during the previous neeting are contained within Version E

9: 06: 25 AM

RAY FRI EDLANDER, Staff, Representative Gerran Tarr, Al aska State
Legi sl ature, advised that the changes in Version E include: page
1, line 7, changed date from July 1, 2015 to Septenber 1, 2015;
page 1, line 13, changed date from Septenber to Novenber 1

2015; page 2, lines 10-16, the definition of "untested sexua

assault kit" was expanded to include the phrase "with evidence"
(line 11) in order to ascertain the audit is specifically for
kits with evidence, as opposed to kits not utilized by local |aw
enf orcement agencies and state departnents. In addition to that
change, she said, the sponsor further elaborated on the
definition to include not only kits that have been collected and
not submitted to the lab, but also collected kits that have been
subnmitted to the Ilab and not vyet processed wth DNA or
serol ogi cal testing. She reiterated this is to ensure that the
audit only includes kits with evidence, and the expansion of the
definition to enconpass the crine | ab.

9:09: 07 AM

VICE CHAIR KELLER requested the history of where the Kkits
originated as credit is due, and assuned the notivation was that
the kits would be a tool readily available for nedical and
enforcenent to ensure the rape was properly investigated.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR responded that this idea was brought to her
attention by a national organization working throughout the
country in addressing the backlog of untested rape kits. The
notivation, she offered, is regarding the violent crimnals
still on the streets due to untested kits and the DNA results
not entered into a database associating them with rape or
anot her crine. She expressed surprise that there is not a
uni form protocol for the 150 |aw enforcenent agencies involved
in the process. She described the legislation as an opportunity
to get everyone on the sane page, coordinating the work to
ensure a better wunderstanding of what is happening in this
state, and allowing the state to possibly seek additional
resources. She referred to M. Oin Dyms testinony during the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 15- March 31, 2015



previ ous rmeeting, who advised that currently there are
approximately 170 untested rape kits at the crine lab and, she
stated, the audit could reveal a process of seeking outside
funds in addressing the backl og. Representative Tarr referred
to Ms. Brown's earlier testinony that it can be difficult for a
victimto participate in the ongoing crimnal procedures due to
the length of tine taken to process cases, and thereby being re-
victim zed on a continual basis by reliving the traumatic event.

9:13: 21 AM

VICE CHAIR KELLER stated that the rape kits are different in
every state and not standardized. Currently, the Kkits are
available as a voluntary tool and that parts of the kit can be
used [for other inconplete Kkits] and, he asked whet her
Representative Tarr had considered that formalizing the process
may have an unintended consequence. He posed a scenario of
nmedi cal staff not using parts of the kit due to the paperwork
i mposed.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR advi sed that there is a standardi zed process
one once a kit is open and nedical staff collects evidence. She
related that there is not a standard process as to what happens
next in terns of whether the kit is put on an evidence shelf and

sits there for a long period of tine until the case noves
forward, or whether the kit is always sent in for testing. She
indicated the audit will identify best practices and provide a

nore standardi zed process and, in the event a piece hindered the
process opined that the public safety people are available to
avoid that from happening.

9:15:18 AM
VICE CHAIR KELLER referred to the term "collected" in the bill,

and noted that wthin the audit process it nust be decided
whet her or not "collected" neans that is it there for evidence,

or what ever. He pointed out that the audit will force things
such as that, and noted the term "collected” is not defined in
the bill and suggested that possibly it should be included,

rather than using it as a lever for reform

M5. FRI EDLANDER replied, wth regard to the term "collected,"
Legislative Legal and Research Service expanded on it with the
phrase "with evidence." She explained it is a kit that has been
collected wth evidence.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 16- March 31, 2015



VICE CHAIR KELLER related that as he read the definition it was
not clear, and "with evidence" if the definition stopped there

he would understand it. He said that parts 1 and 2 discuss,
“"that have been collected ... and have been collected and
subm tted,” and asked whether that |anguage is sufficient. He

offered that possibly it is enough to put it on the record, and
wanted to be sure it was on the table.

9:17:15 AM

REPRESENTATI VE TARR advised that Dean WIIlians, Departnent of
Public Safety, is available to address Chair Keller's concerns.

VICE CHAIR KELLER restated his question and asked whether a
definition of "collected," is necessary, or whether to define
t he nexus between "what is evidence and what is collected.”

9:18: 06 AM

ORIN DYM Forensic Laboratory Mnager, Al aska Scientific Crine
Det ecti on Laboratory, Departnent of Public Safety, answered that
with regard to the term "'collected,” once a sexual assault kit
is used for the collection of evidence, | find the neaning
clear” as they are counting kits once the seals are broken and
evi dence is coll ected.

VI CE CHAIR KELLER surm sed that once the hospital uses a kit it
is automatically evidence as far as M. Dymis concer ned.

MR. DYM answered correct, in that once it is collected it
becones evi dence.

VICE CHAIR KELLER asked whether that is a new definition here
He opined from the previous hearing that there are cases within
enforcenment where a piece may have used out of a kit and the
alleged victim decided not to proceed. Therefore, there is
coll ected evidence that hasn't been processed properly by the
state and perhaps exacerbated the problemthe bill is trying to
fix, he suggested.

MR. DYM said whether or not a case is prosecuted doesn't change
the fact that it is still evidence, and whether or not it is a
prosecut abl e cases has no bearing on the fact that it is stil
evi dence collected froma crine scene.

9:20: 04 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -17- March 31, 2015



VICE CHAIR KELLER restated his question, and asked whether
currently there is wevidence that 1is not being considered
evi dence because it is not forwarded. He pointed out that if a
piece of the kit is used, that is evidence as far as M. Dymis
concerned, which neans the Departnment of Public Safety nust keep
the kit and warehouse it forever. He opined that it is not how
the kits are being used, but he could be wong.

MR. DYM said he was trying to get clarity and understand and
remarked that if a kit is wutilized to collect biologica
material, that kit is evidence. In the event a partial kit is
utilized, he explained, that is still evidence. Wthin the
process of identifying utilized kits in the <collection of
evidence and not submtted to the crine |aboratory, if a piece
of the kit has been utilized in evidence collection and is
removed from the kit it may be difficult to identify, but he
does not have an answer.

VICE CHAIR KELLER asked M. Dean WIllianms whether hi s
under st andi ng of evidence is correct.

9:22: 03 AM

DEAN W LLI AMS, Special Assistant, Ofice of the Comm ssioner,
Department of Public Safety, responded from the perspective of
the Departnment of Public Safety (DPS), the language is clear in
terms of what is being counted. He described it as a good
effort because DPS does not know to what extent there may be a
problem but if there is one, even a snmall one, DPS should be
aware and develop a plan. He remarked that DPS knows what it is
dealing with in terns of untested kits, and if there is evidence
in a kit there nmay be a good reason why the kit was not tested,
but DPS should perform a hand count and audit. He said DPS is
supportive of the efforts for these reasons.

9:23:13 AM

VICE CHAIR KELLER surmised that M. WIlianms was discussing the
entire bill, and asked whether he was specifically discussing
the new definition in Version E, page 2, |ines 10-16.

MR. WLLIAMS answered that he discussed the changes wth
Representative Tarr, and is confortable with the definition and
DPS has a good sense of what it neans.

9:24: 03 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 18- March 31, 2015



REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG referred to Section 1, subsection (c),
whi ch read:

(c) The Departnment of Public Safety shall deliver
a copy of the report prepared under (b) of this
section to the senate secretary and the chief clerk of
t he house of representatives and notify t he
| egi slature that the report is avail able.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG poi nted out that subsection (c) is not
necessary in that a few additional words included in subsection
(b) would suffice and would el i m nate verbi age.

9:24: 20 AM

REPRESENTATI VE TARR, in response to Chair Keller, stated that
the bill has two additional commttee referrals, the House
Judi ci ary Standing Conmittee and House Fi nance Comm ttee.

VICE CHAIR noted that he and Representative G uenberg can work
on the bill in the House Judiciary Standing Commttee, should he
chose to nove the bill.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG suggest ed consi deri ng an anendnent .
VI CE CHAI R KELLER opened public testinony.
9:25:13 AM

JESSI CA CLER, Manager, Al aska Public Affairs, Planned Parenthood
Votes Northwest, said she is a lifelong resident of Al aska, and
currently lives in Anchorage. She stated she is testifying in
support of CSHB 117, on behalf of the sexual assault survivors
in Alaska awaiting closure and justice. There are approxi mately
400, 000- 500, 000 untested sexual assault examnation kits wthin
the United States, which not only neans that sexual predators
can evade justice and re-offend, but also |eaves thousands of

sexual assault survivors w thout closure. In a state wth
tragically high sexual assault rape nunbers it is crucial that
all rape kits are collected, submtted, and tested within a

timely manner. She highlighted that CSHB 117 begi ns the process
of addressing the backlog as the state needs to know the nunber
of kits sitting on shelves waiting for analysis. She pointed
out that this bill gives law enforcenent and the public the
informati on necessary to tackle the anount of untested rape kits
in Alaska. The cities and states addressing the issue of their
backl og of untested kits have noted significant gains in that

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -19- March 31, 2015



the analysis has identified perpetrators and are making gains in
prosecuting these individuals. Al aska needs to follow their
| ead, she enphasi zed.

9:27:45 AM

NANCY PORTO stated that this Easter marks a two-year tine period
from the nonent she experienced a sexual assault. Although, she
went to a hospital and fully consented to a rape Kkit
exam nation, the kit has not been processed and she is waiting
on the biological DNA evidence portion of her exam She
expressed that the event was traumatic as she was asleep before
it happened, intoxicated, with a narcotic in her system that she

did not knowi ngly ingest. She stressed she does not know
exactly what happened other than she woke terrified to the
feeling of being touched. She called the police, and at the

hospital was infornmed of a drug in her system that she did not
take. On top of that, she explained, the man was and conti nues
to be her sister's boyfriend as she was living with them at the
tinme. She expressed that this event destroyed her famly, she
experiences extrenme difficulty with her college education, and
she was forced into a position of having nore responsibility
than she could handle alone at the tine. She related that she
knows many other wonen who have experienced assault, and in
addition to the assault, she is haunted by the reasons she has
to believe he may have conmtted crines with others in his past.
Pl ease support CSHB 117, because it can truly be a step in the
right direction and give many others closure, she expressed.

VICE CHAIR KELLER closed public testinony after ascertaining
that no one further wi shed to testify.

9:30: 07 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG noved to report CSHB 117, | abeled 29-
LSO386\E, Martin, 3/27/15, out of conmmttee wth individual
recommendati ons and the acconpanying fiscal notes. There being
no objection, CSHB 117(STA) was reported from the House State
Affairs Standing Comm ttee.

VI CE CHAIR KELLER returned the gavel to Chair Lynn.

9:30: 30 AM

The conmmttee took an at-ease from9:30 a.m to 9:33 a. m

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 20- March 31, 2015



9:33: 06 AM

CHAIR LYNN remarked that due to the inportance of this bill he
suggested the commttee craft a letter to the Legislative Budget
and Audit Committee regarding earlier expressed concerns [that
fall under the purview of the Legislative Budget and Audit
Comm ttee].

9:34:31 AM

REPRESENTATI VE VAZQUEZ stated that she and Representative
Gruenberg [no longer in the roon support the efforts to be nmade
regarding HB 117, as anended, which is the audit of the crine
| ab.

CHAIR LYNN stated he is glad the bill passed out of committee,
but nore nust be done.

9:35:11 AM
ADJ OURNNMENT
There being no further business before the commttee, the House

State Affairs Standing Committee neeting was adjourned at 9:35
a.m

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -21- March 31, 2015



